A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Appellant was denied his constitutional right to a fair 

trial when the prosecutor misrepresented the law in closing 

argument. 

2. Appellant was denied his right to a fair trial when the 

court overruled defense counsel's objection to the prosecutor's 

misstatement of the law. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Appellant was charged with indecent exposure. To 

be guilty of indecent exposure, the exposure must be made 

intentionally. The defense argued the evidence suggested 

appellant did not intend to be seen, and the state therefore failed to 

prove an intentional exposure as required under the law. In rebuttal 

closing argument, the prosecutor accused the defense of misstating 

the law and argued the state was required to prove only that 

appellant intended the act that constituted the exposure (i.e. 

masturbation), not that he intended for it to be seen. Did the 

prosecutor misstate the law and thereby deprive appellant of his 

right to a fair trial? 

2. Did the trial court err in overruling defense counsel's 

objection to the prosecutor's rebuttal closing argument and thereby 
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increase the likelihood the jury was affected by the prosecutor's 

misconduct? 

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE1 

1. Procedural Facts 

Following a jury trial in Snohomish County Superior Court, 

appellant James Swanson was convicted of indecent exposure,2 

reportedly committed with sexual motivation. CP 34-35. The state 

alleged Swanson exposed himself to a "bikini barrista" at a drive-

through espresso stand on the morning of May 25, 2011 . CP 82-

83; RP 4-5. Swanson was sentenced to two months on the 

underlying offense and 12 months on the enhancement, in addition 

to three years of community supervision . CP 2-17. This appeal 

follows . CP 1. 

2. Trial Testimony 

On May 25, 2011, Cayden Boyovich was working the early 

shift as a bikini barrista at Cowgirls Espresso in Lynnwood. RP 48, 

51 . Her first customer pulled up that morning at 5:00 a.m.; it was 

1 "RP" refers the jury trial and sentencing hearing respectively held on October 
15-16, and November 27, 2012, contained in one bound volume. 

2 Swanson stipulated he had a prior conviction for indecent exposure, which 
elevated the allegation to a felony charge. CP 55; RP 113; RCW 
9A.88.010(2)(c) . The jury was instructed to consider evidence of the prior 
conviction "only for the purpose of determining whether he has a prior conviction 
under RCW 9A.88.010." CP 44; see also RP 8. 
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still dark. RP 55, 76. Boyovich testified she typically could see 

inside vehicles at that time in the morning because there is a 

outside light on either side of the espresso stand where cars can 

pull up. RP 55. 

Boyovich testified her first customer was driving a red Ford 

Ranger. According to Boyovich, the driver did not pull up normally, 

but parked further back from where most customers park. RP 56. 

Boyovich explained that when someone pulls up, his or her car 

window is usually aligned with the opening for the espresso stand 

window, which is two feet across.3 RP 57. This driver was off the 

mark by a foot, however. RP 57. 

Boyovich greeted the driver and he ordered an espresso 

drink. RP 59. Boyovich turned away to grab a cup but turned back 

toward the driver to start a conversation while she made the drink. 

RP 59. Boyovich testified the driver did not appear to want to talk. 

RP 59. Boyovich reportedly noticed the driver's shoulder move and 

glanced down into the car. She claimed she saw that the driver's 

pants were unzipped and he was masturbating with his right hand. 

3 While the window opening itself is two feet across, the espresso stand has a 
double window. Boyovich testified that as a result, she has a view to the outside 
of four feet across. RP 57. 
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RP 59-60. Boyovich continued to make the drink and pretended 

she did not see anything . RP 59-60. 

According to Boyovich, the driver held a credit card in his 

other hand. RP 61. She exchanged the drink for the card, but it 

was an awkward exchange, as the truck was still parked back a 

ways. RP 63. 

Boyovich testified that when she took the card , the driver 

was no longer masturbating but still exposed. RP 63-64. Boyovich 

swiped the card and handed it back to the driver on a clipboard with 

a charge slip for him to sign . RP 63. The name on the card was 

James Swanson. RP 67. When the truck pulled away, Boyovich 

took down the license plate number and called the police. RP 65. 

Deputy Ian Huri responded to Cowgirls Espresso when he 

came on duty that morning at 6:00 a.m. RP 99. Boyovich gave 

Huri the name she obtained from the credit card. RP 100. The last 

name on the card, Swanson, was the same as the truck's 

registered owner, Catherine Swanson. 4 RP 102. 

Huri returned to the precinct and created a photomontage 

that included Swanson's picture, which Huri obtained from local 

records. RP 104-105. When Huri showed the montage to 
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Boyovich later that day, she identified Swanson as the person 

driving the truck that morning. RP 70-72, 106. Boyovich also 

identified Swanson in court. RP 65. 

Catherine Swanson testified that although technically, she 

owned the red Ford Ranger, it really belonged to her brother 

James; he was the one who paid for it and drove it. RP 112-13. 

3. JUry Instructions and Closing Argument 

The court provided the jury with the following relevant 

instructions. 

CP45. 

Instruction NO. 7 

A person commits the crime of indecent 
exposure when he or she intentionally makes 
any open and obscene exposure of his or her 
person knowing that such conduct is likely to 
cause reasonable affront or alarm, and that the 
person had been previously convicted of 
Indecent Exposure under RCW 9A.88.01 O. 

Instruction NO.8 

To convict the defendant of the crime of 
Indecent Exposure, each of the following 
elements of the crime must be proved beyond 
a reasonable doubt: 

(1) That on or about the 25th day of 
May, 2011, the defendant made an open and 

4 On his way to contact Boyovich, Huri ran the license plate Boyovich recorded 
and obtained the registered owner's name and address. RP 100. 
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CP46. 

obscene exposure of the defendant's person to 
C.B._G .;[51 

(2) That the defendant acted 
intentionally; 

(3) That the defendant knew that 
such conduct was likely to cause reasonable 
affront or alarm; 

(4) That this act occurred in the State 
of Washington; and 

(5) That the defendant had been 
previously convicted of Indecent Exposure 
under RCW 9A.88.010. 

In discussing elements (1) and (2) in the to-convict 

instruction - that defendant made an open and obscene exposure 

and that the defendant acted intentionally - the prosecutor argued 

the jury was required only to find that Swanson intended the act of 

masturbation: 

Number (2), "That the defendant acted 
intentionally." There's a definition that follows this that 
talks about intent. It says, "A person acts with intent 
or intentionally when acting with the objective or 
purpose to accomplish a result that constitutes a 
crime," meaning that you don't have to intend a crime; 
you have to intend the act that turns out to be a crime. 

So if somebody is standing behind me and I 
accidentally hit them, that wouldn't be intentionally 
assaulting him, would it, because I didn't intend that. 
Now, if I intend to throw a punch at him and hit him, 
even if I think it's okay for some reason, that means I 
intended the act that constitutes a crime. It turns out 

5 On the day in question , Cayden Boyovich's last name was Bergsma Gaston. 
RP47. 
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it was a crime to punch him. That's why it's important 
to follow that definition. 

So in our case. the defendant acted 
intentionally. Unless you think he somehow mistook 
his penis for a can of spray paint and was just shaking 
it up. that one's pretty easy. 

RP 123-24 (italics in original, underlined emphasis added). 

Turning to element (3), the prosecutor argued "this one is 

much more important in terms of what is going on in his head: 

"That the defendant knew that such conduct was likely to cause 

reasonable affront or alarm." RP 124 (italics in original). And 

according to the prosecutor, evidence Swanson was hiding was 

evidence of such knowledge: 

So even if he is hiding, which he wasn't, but if 
you wanted to believe that, why would he hide? 
Because he knows it would cause reasonable affront 
or alarm. 

RP 124. 

In contrast, defense counsel had a different interpretation of 

what is meant by acting intentionally as far as element (1) is 

concerned . As the defense argued , the jury must find not only that 

Swanson intended the act of masturbation but that he intended it to 

be seen: 

I just want to start by saying, now that you 
have heard the instructions, we all understand that it's 
not a crime to masturbate in your car. It's not a crime 
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to masturbate in your car and someone walks by and 
sees you masturbating in your car, and if you didn't 
intend them to see you masturbating in your car. It's 
only a crime to masturbate in your car if you intend for 
someone there to see what you are doing and to -
with the knowledge that they are going to be alarmed 
at the sight of it. 

RP 130-31. 

In support, the defense relied on the definitional instruction 

of indecent exposure: 

Specifically, "A person commits the crime of indecent 
exposure when he or she intentionally makes any 
open and obscene exposure of his or her person . ... " 

The intention is that it be open; that it be seen 
by someone else. That's what the state has to prove 
beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Swanson, in 
going through that Espresso drive-through, intended 
that barista to see what he was doing in his car. 

RP 131. 

As defense counsel argued, the evidence showed Swanson 

was trying to be clandestine: 

This is not an inherently intentional act. In fact, it's 
quite the opposite. The inference that you can draw, 
from the barista's testimony, is that he was trying to 
be clandestine. He was trying to hide. He was trying 
to make it so that she couldn't see him. How do we 
know that? Well, he didn't pull all the way up to the 
stand where normal customers come. He pulled 
back. She said that his car was back far enough that 
it was awkward for her to reach out her window and 
hand him the drink. He's [sic] hasn't pulled right up 
and said, "Hey, look at me, Barista, look at what I'm 
doing, Ha ha, doesn't that shake you up?" He has 
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pulled back in a dark area where, presumably, if she 
is looking out her window, because his window is 
back, there's a dash, a steering column, a driver's 
side door. It doesn't matter whether or not she could 
see into the vehicle. She testified she could see in 
the vehicle. It's not in here, in order for there to be 
indecent exposure, the barista has to be able to see 
in the vehicle. The requirement is that the defendant, 
Mr. Swanson, has to intend for her to be able to see 
what he's doing inside the vehicle. 

RP 131-32. 

The defense further urged that if the jury believed Swanson 

was hiding, as discussed by the prosecutor in closing, it would have 

to acquit: 

Mr. Hunter [the prosecutor] in his remarks said, 
with regard to whether he knew it was going to cause 
a reasonable affront, well, maybe he was hiding, 
because he knew it was going to cause a reasonable 
affront. It can't be both ways. If he's hiding, it is not 
an intentional, open act. He is not intending for her to 
see it. So if he is hiding, you have to find him not 
guilty. The State hasn't met their burden. 

RP 133. 

And as defense counsel further pointed out, at no point did 

Boyovich give any indication that she could see what Swanson was 

doing. RP 133-34. Moreover, Swanson gave Boyovich his credit 

card, a further indication he did not believe Boyovich had seen 

anything . RP 134. 
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The prosecutor began his rebuttal by lambasting defense 

counsel's interpretation of the law: 

Most trials come down to the facts. This one, 
apparently, is going to come down to the law. What 
you just heard was a misstatement of the law. But 
you get to decide that, because you will have the 
original copy with you to take back there. There is a 
sentence in here that the defense has latched onto in 
trying to make you see it the way that it's not 
supposed to be seen. 

Instruction number 7 is kind of a summary of 
what indecent exposure is. It says, "A person 
commits the crime of indecent exposure when he or 
she intentionally makes any open and obscene 
exposure of his or her person ... " blah blah blah. So 
the defense would have you believe that he has to 
intend that it be open and intend that it be obscene, 
apparently. But what this says is, he has to intend the 
exposure, and the exposure has to be open and 
obscene, which it was in this case, which is exactly 
why Instruction Number 8 is broken up much more 
specifically, and it's phrased in a different order. It 
makes crystal clear that the defendant had to make -
it doesn't say anything about intend, it says "make" -
an open and obscene exposure of his person to 
Cayden. And then number (2) is where the intent 
comes, where it says that he intended to act. That's 
why I spent the time earlier saying you don't have to 
intend it to be a crime; you have to intend the act that 
turns out to be a crime. 

RP 137-38. 

At this point, defense counsel objected. RP 138. The 

objection was overruled and the court indicated: "The jury will have 
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the instructions which I have given. Those are the instructions 

which apply." RP 138. 

The prosecutor therefore continued: 

If you want to read them the way the defense 
suggests, you have that prerogative; but that's not 
what they say. If you think I'm wrong, then I'll expect 
a not guilty verdict. Read them yourselves. But don't 
focus on the first half of the sentence in Number 7 
and ignore the context, the definitions and, 
specifically, Number 8, which is what you have to step 
through. 

RP 138. 

Once the parties and court were informed that the jury had 

reached a verdict, but before the verdict was taken, the court 

reconvened and defense counsel renewed her objection to the 

prosecutor's rebuttal argument. RP 143-44. Specifically, the 

defense asked the court to make a ruling as to the meaning of 

intent in RCW 9A.88.01 0 and issue a curative instruction if the court 

agreed with defense counsel's interpretation: 

If you agreed with me that that was a misstatement of 
the law, I think it would be appropriate to tell the jury 
that they have to find that he intended it to be an 
exposure, not just that he intended to masturbate and 
someone saw it. 

RP 144. The court declined to take any action other than to bring 

the jury in for its verdict. RP 146-47. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

SWANSON WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL DUE TO THE 
PROSECUTOR'S MISSTATEMENT OF THE LAW IN 
CLOSING ARGUMENT AND THE COURT'S 
ENDORSEMENT OF THAT MISSTATEMENT WHEN IT 
OVERRULED DEFENSE COUNSEL'S TIMELY 
OBJECTION. 

Contrary to the prosecutor's argument, defense counsel did 

not misstate the law when she argued the jury must find Swanson 

intentionally exposed himself, i.e. intended to be seen, in order to 

convict him of indecent exposure. Based on the common sense 

grammatical reading of the statute, the legislative history and the 

case law, defense counsel's interpretation was correct. The 

prosecutor's argument instead that the jury must find only that 

Swanson intended the act that resulted in an open and obscene 

exposure was a misstatement of the law and constituted 

prosecutorial misconduct. 

The trial court erred in overruling defense counsel's timely 

objection to the prosecutor's argument. In doing so, the court put 

its stamp of approval on the prosecutor's interpretation and thereby 

increased the likelihood the jurors were affected by the prosecutor's 

misconduct. 
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Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of the fair 

trial guaranteed him under the state and federal constitutions. 

State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676-77, 257 P.3d 551 (2011); 

State v. Reed, 102 Wn.2d 140, 145,684 P.2d 699 (1984); State v. 

Evans, 163 Wn. App. 635, 642, 260 P.3d 934 (2011). Because of 

their unique position in the justice system, prosecutors must steer 

wide from unfair trial tactics. Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 676. 

A prosecutor serves two important functions. A 
prosecutor must enforce the law by prosecuting those 
who have violated the peace and dignity of the state 
by breaking the law. A prosecutor also functions as 
the representative of the people in a quasijudicial 
capacity in a search for justice. 

Id . Defendants are among the people the prosecutor represents 

and, therefore, the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see 

that their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated . Id . 

Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal if the 

prosecuting attorney's conduct was both improper and prejudicial. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d at 675 (citations omitted). Prejudice is 

established where there is a substantial likelihood that the 

misconduct affected the jury's verdict. kL at 578. 

The prosecutor may not misstate the law to the jury. State v. 

Warren, 165 Wn.2d 17, 27, 195 P.3d 940 (2008). Here, the 
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prosecutor told the jury that it was not the State's burden under 

RCW 9A.88.010 to prove that Swanson intended to be seen, only 

that he intended the act that was ultimately seen. This was a 

misstatement of the law. 

RCW 9A.88.01 0(1) provides in relevant part: 

A person is guilty of indecent exposure if he or 
she intentionally makes any open and obscene 
exposure of his or her person or the person of another 
knowing that such conduct is likely to cause 
reasonable affront or alarm. The act of breastfeeding 
or expressing breast milk is not indecent exposure. 

Common sense and a basic application of the rules of grammar 

demonstrate that the plain language of the law indicates the 

Legislature intended "intentionally" to modify both the transitive verb 

and the object of that verb. In other words, the plain language of 

the statute (and the to-convict instruction) required the State prove 

not only that Swanson intentionally made an exposure but also that 

he intended it to be open, i.e. not hidden, and obscene. 

The prosecutor should have been well aware of the law's 

requirement because this reading of RCW 9A.88.010's language 

not only conforms to basic rules of grammar, but it is also well-

supported by the legislative history and case law. 
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For example in Flores-Figueroa v. United States, 556 U.S. 

646, 129 S.Ct. 1886, 173 L.Ed.2d 853 (2009), the United States 

Supreme Court interpreted a federal statute that included a similar 

sentence structure. At issue in Flores-Figueroa was 18 U.S.C. § 

1 028A(a)(1), which makes it a crime to "knowingly transfer[ ], 

possess[ ], or use[ ], without lawful authority, a means of 

identification of another person" during the commission of certain 

predicate offenses. kl at 649. 

Flores-Figueroa was a citizen of Mexico. In order to obtain 

work in the United States, he used an illegitimate social security 

card. At trial, Flores-Figueroa claimed the Government could not 

prove he knew the social security number he used was assigned to 

another person. In a similar vein as here, the Government there 

argued that "knowingly" did not modify "another person" and, 

therefore, it was not required to prove Flores-Figueroa knew the 

social security number belonged to another. kl at 649-50. 

The Supreme Court disagreed with the Government, holding 

that "the statute requires the Government to show that the 

defendant knew that the 'means of identification' he or she 

unlawfully transferred, possessed, or used, in fact, belonged to 

'another person.'" Id . at 647. It reasoned that, "[i]n ordinary 
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English, where a transitive verb has an object, listeners in most 

contexts assume that an adverb (such as knowingly) that modifies 

the transitive verb tells the listener how the subject performed the 

entire action, including the object as set forth in the sentence." .!Q. 

at 650 (emphasis added). 

To illustrate, the Court explained: 

if a child knowingly takes a toy that belongs to his 
sibling, we assume that the child not only knows that 
he is taking something, but that he also knows that 
what he is taking is a toy and that the toy belongs to 
his sibling. If we say that someone knowingly ate a 
sandwich with cheese, we normally assume that the 
person knew both that he was eating a sandwich and 
that it contained cheese. 

Id. at 651. The Court went on to explain that, "the manner in which 

the courts ordinarily interpret criminal statutes is fully consistent 

with this ordinary English usage." kL at 652 (citations omitted). 

Even though the Supreme Court was interpreting a federal 

statute and not Washington's indecent exposure statute, its 

interpretation was based on basic rules of grammar, common 

sense, and the ordinary interpretation given criminal statutes. As 

such, its reasoning is equally applicable to other statutes that 

similarly use terms, such as "knowingly" or "intentionally," as is the 

case here, to modify a transitory verb phrase. See, ~ U.S. v. 
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Shim, 584 F.3d 39, (2nd Cir. 2009) (applying same reasoning when 

interpreting a statute making it a crime for a person to knowingly

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