NO. 69618-1-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2013 JUL 11 PM 1:22

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES V. SWANSON,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE
Prosecuting Attorney

JOHN J. JUHL
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office
3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504
Everett, Washington 98201
Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

The crime of indecent exposure has been committed when an obscene exposure takes place when another is present and the offender knew the exposure likely would cause reasonable alarm. Vars, 157 Wn. App. at 491. Whether defendant thought the barista could see him is irrelevant. A mistaken reasonable, subjective belief may constitute knowledge. State v. Johnson, 119 Wn.2d 167, 174, 829 P.2d 1082 (1992). The jury is permitted to find actual subjective knowledge if there is sufficient information which would lead a reasonable person to believe that a fact exists. Id.; RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b). The evidence in the present case showed beyond doubt that defendant intentionally made an open and obscene

exposure of his person with knowledge that it was likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm.

d. Jury instructions.

The jury was properly instructed on the offense,⁵ the elements that the state had the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt,⁶ and the definitions of intent⁷ and knowledge.⁸ The instructions proposed by the parties were essentially identical to the instructions given by the court.⁹ CP 61-64.

e. Context of the total argument.

Prosecutor's closing argument. In closing argument the prosecutor focused on the elements of the offense and the State's burden of proof. The prosecutor argued that State had to prove that defendant made and open and obscene exposure of his person and that defendant's action was intentional. The prosecutor said that if the jury thought defendant's action was a mistake or that he did not do that action, it was their duty to find defendant not

⁵ CP 45 (Jury Instruction 7, WPIC 47.01).

⁶ CP 46 (Jury Instruction 8, WPIC 47.02).

⁷ CP 47 (Jury Instruction 9, WPIC 10.01).

⁸ CP 48 (Jury Instruction 10, WPIC 10.02).

⁹ The only differences were that defendant's proposed instructions excluded the phrase "had been previously convicted of Indecent Exposure under RCW 9A.88.010, found in instructions 7 and 8. See CP 61, 62. The court denied defendant's motion to bifurcate the issue of his prior conviction. RP 7-27, 91-97, 116-118.

guilty. The prosecutor discussed the definition of intent in instruction 9 and offered examples of accidental action and intentional actions in support of his argument that defendant acted intentionally. The prosecutor argued the State did not have to prove that defendant intended his action to be offensive, but that the State had the burden to prove that defendant knew that his conduct was likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm. The prosecutor discussed the definition of knowledge in instruction 10 and pointed out that acting intentionally necessarily included knowingly, but clarified that finding defendant's open and obscene exposure was intentional did not relieve the jury from finding that defendant knew that his conduct was likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm. The prosecutor emphasized that the jury had to keep those two mental states separate. RP 120-127.

The prosecutor concluded by discussing the State's burden of proof and the jurors' duty to decide the case. RP 127-129.

Defendant's closing argument. Defense counsel began her closing argument by stating that the instructions said "it's not a crime to masturbate in your car." Defense counsel argued, "It's only a crime to masturbate in your car if you intend for someone there to see what you are doing and to – with the knowledge that

they are going to be alarmed at the sight of it.” Defense counsel argued that defendant had to intend that the barista see him. “The intention is that it be open; that it be seen by someone else. That’s what the State has to prove beyond a reasonable doubt, that Mr. Swanson, in going through that Espresso drive-through, intended that barista to see what he was doing in his car.” Defense argued that the jury could infer that defendant’s actions were clandestine and did not satisfy the requirement that defendant “has to intend for her to be able to see what he’s doing inside the vehicle.” ... “That’s what the Court’s instructions gave you. You have to believe, beyond any reasonable doubt, that he intended for her to see what he was doing in that car.”¹⁰ RP 130-133.

In discussing whether defendant knew his action was likely to cause a reasonable affront, defense counsel argued: “If he’s hiding it is not an intentional, open act. He is not intending for her to see it. So if he is hiding, you have to find him not guilty. The

¹⁰ To the contrary, the State had to prove defendant intentionally caused an open and obscene exposure of his person to be visible to general view. The State did not have to prove defendant intended for the barista to see him masturbating. Vars, 157 Wn. App. at 491.

State hasn't met their burden."¹¹ Counsel focused on whether the barista made any indication to make defendant aware that she could see what he was doing in the car.¹² RP 133-135. Defense counsel's argument blurred the mental states regarding whether defendant's actions were intentional with defendant's knowledge that his conduct was likely to cause a reasonable affront or alarm.

Defense counsel concluded her argument by stating that defendant's actions were not those "of someone who intended a person in the window to see what he was doing within his car." ... "In order to find him guilty, you have to find beyond any reasonable doubt that he was intending for her to see what he was doing in his car, and the State has not met their burden and the elements." RP 136.

Prosecutor's rebuttal argument. The prosecutor responded that what the jury just heard was a misstatement of the law, and directed the jurors to consult the court's instructions in determining the correct law. RP 137. The prosecutor pointed out

¹¹ The law is contrary to this statement; attempting to hide shows knowledge that the exposure is likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm. See Vars, 157 Wn. App. at 493 (defendant furtively crouching in bushes when he knew he was being watched supported finding he knew that his exposure was likely to cause reasonable affront or alarm).

¹² To the contrary, the crime of indecent exposure is completed when the inappropriate exhibition takes place in the presence of another, without any consideration of that person's response. Vars, 157 Wn. App. at 490.

that the misstatement involved defense interpretation of the language of instruction 7: “A person commits the crime of indecent exposure when he or she intentionally makes any open and obscene exposure of his or her person” The prosecutor pointed out that instructions 7 and 8, considered together, make it clear that defendant had to make an open and obscene exposure of his person and that he intended the act. “That’s why I spent the time earlier saying you don’t have to intend it to be a crime; you have to intend the act that turns out to be a crime.” Defense objected and the court instructed the jury to apply the court’s instructions. The prosecutor told the jurors that they had the prerogative to read the instructions the way defense suggested, but cautioned the jurors to read the first line of instruction 7 in the context of the other instructions. RP 137-138.

The prosecutor’s remarks were a pertinent reply to defense counsel’s argument. A prosecutor’s remarks are not grounds for reversal if they were invited or provoked by defense counsel and are in reply to defense counsel’s acts and statements. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 86; Dennison, 72 Wn.2d at 849; Graham, 59 Wn. App. at 428-429. It was not misconduct for the prosecutor to argue that the evidence did not support the defense interpretation of the law.

Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 87.

2. The Claimed Misconduct Was Not Preserved For Review.

The standard of review is based on a defendant's duty to object to a prosecutor's allegedly improper argument. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 761. "Objections are required not only to prevent counsel from making additional improper remarks, but also to prevent potential abuse of the appellate process." Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762, citing State v. Weber, 159 Wn.2d 252, 271–272, 149 P.3d 646 (2006) (were a party not required to object, a party could simply lie back, not allowing the trial court to avoid the potential prejudice, gamble on the verdict, and then seek a new trial on appeal); State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990) (counsel may not remain silent, speculating upon a favorable verdict, and then, when it is adverse, use the claimed misconduct as a life preserver on a motion for new trial or on appeal). "An objection is unnecessary in cases of incurable prejudice only because 'there is, in effect, a mistrial and a new trial is the only and the mandatory remedy.'" Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762, quoting State v. Case, 49 Wn.2d 66, 74, 298 P.2d 500 (1956).

In order to preserve error for consideration on appeal, the alleged error must be called to the trial court's attention at a time

that will afford the court an opportunity to correct it. State v. Wicke, 91 Wn.2d 638, 642, 591 P.2d 452 (1979). An objection is sufficient at the time made, if the party “makes known to the court the action which he desires the court to take or his objection to the action of the court and his grounds therefor.” CR 46.¹³ During rebuttal argument defense merely stated, “I’m going to object, your Honor.” No clarification for the basis of the objection was offered. RP 138. Defendant did not request a curative instruction at the time of the objection. Nonetheless, the court directed the jury to apply the court’s instructions.¹⁴ RP 138. After the jury announced they had reached a verdict, defense counsel attempted to clarify her earlier objection regarding the prosecutor’s rebuttal argument and request a curative instruction. Defense counsel acknowledged that it was too late for a curative instruction. The court found that defendant’s request was untimely and declined to further instruct the jury after the verdict had been reached. Defendant did not move for a mistrial. RP 143-147.

Objections must be made timely to preserve errors for appeal. Wicke, 91 Wn.2d at 642. Counsel’s attempt to clarify the

¹³ CrR 8.7 incorporates CR 46 by reference.

¹⁴ The court’s instruction’s also told the jury: “You must apply the law from my instructions to the facts that you decide have been proved, and in this way decide the case.” CP 37 (Instruction 1, WPIC 1.02).

earlier objection after the jury had reached its verdict was untimely. The fact that defendant did not timely request a curative instruction or request a mistrial, strongly suggests that the argument did not appear critically prejudicial to defendant in the context of the trial. State v. Pastrana, 94 Wn. App. 463, 480, 972 P.2d 557 (1999). Under the circumstance of the present case, the claimed misconduct was not preserved. State v. Brown, 74 Wn.2d 799, 803, 447 P.2d 82 (1968).

3. The Argument Did Not Engender An Incurable Feeling Of Prejudice That Had A Substantial Likelihood Of Unfairly Affecting The Verdict.

A prosecutor's conduct is prejudicial only if there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury's verdict. State v. Finch, 137 Wn.2d 792, 839, 975 P.2d 967 (1999); State v. Evans, 96 Wn.2d 1, 5, 633 P.2d 83 (1981). The court's focus is on whether any resulting prejudice had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. State v. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. 170, 184, 269 P.3d 1029 (2011) review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1004, 297 P.3d 68 (2013). Reversal is required only if a substantial likelihood exists that the misconduct affected the jury's verdict, thereby depriving the defendant of a fair trial. Finch, 137 Wn.2d at 839; Evans, 96 Wn.2d at 5. "The criterion always is, has such a feeling of prejudice been

engendered or located in the minds of the jury as to prevent a [defendant] from having a fair trial?” Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762, quoting Slattery v. City of Seattle, 169 Wash. 144, 148, 13 P.2d 464 (1932). The mere possibility of prejudice is not sufficient to meet the burden of showing actual prejudice. State v. Norby, 122 Wn.2d 258, 264, 858 P.2d 210 (1993). Defendant has failed to show how the prosecutor’s comments engendered an incurable feeling of prejudice in the mind of the jury.

4. The Rebuttal Argument Was Not Unfairly Prejudicial.

If a defendant demonstrates improper prosecutor conduct, then defendant’s claim of prejudice is evaluated on the merits under two different standards of review depending on whether the defendant objected at trial. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. at 183.

a. Failure to object.

If the defendant fails to object to the prosecutor’s misconduct at trial, the appellate court applies a level of scrutiny to ascertain whether the prosecutor’s misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it caused an “enduring and resulting prejudice” incurable by a jury instruction. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. at 184, citing State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 841, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006). This standard requires defendant to establish that (1) the misconduct

resulted in prejudice that “had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict,” and (2) no curative instruction would have obviated the prejudicial effect on the jury. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. at 184; citing State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438, 455, 258 P.3d 43 (2011); Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 86 (a defendant cannot demonstrate “enduring and resulting prejudice” without demonstrating “a substantial likelihood that the alleged prosecutorial misconduct affected the verdict”). Here, defendant has not shown that the prosecutor’s rebuttal argument was flagrant and ill-intentioned or that it caused an enduring and resulting prejudice that unfairly affected the verdict.

b. Objections.

Alternatively, if the defendant objects to the misconduct, the reviewing court determines whether the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. at 184; State v. Anderson, 153 Wn. App. 417, 427, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009) review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1002, 245 P.3d 226 (2010). If the misconduct did not result in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict, the inquiry ends and the claim fails. Sakellis, 164 Wn. App. at 184; Anderson, 153 Wn. App. at 429 (defendant's prosecutorial misconduct claim

failed on appeal when he objected to prosecutor's misconduct at trial but failed to demonstrate that the misconduct had a substantial likelihood of affecting the verdict). Here, defendant has not shown that the prosecutor's rebuttal argument resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of unfairly affecting the verdict.

5. Any Potential Prejudice From The Prosecutor's Argument Was Cured By The Court's Instructions.

The statements and remarks by counsel are not evidence and should not be so considered. State v. Rice, 120 Wn.2d 549, 573, 844 P.2d 416 (1993); State v. Huber, 129 Wn. App. 499, 504, 119 P.3d 388 (2005). The court may mitigate potential prejudice by so instructing the jury. State v. Guizzotti, 60 Wn. App. 289, 296, 803 P.2d 808, review denied, 116 Wn.2d 1026, 812 P.2d 102 (1991). In the present case the trial court instructed the jury that the prosecutor's statement was argument, not evidence, and that the jury "must disregard any remark, statement, or argument that is not supported by the evidence or the law in my instructions." CP 38 (Jury Instruction 1, WPIC 1.02). Further, when defendant objected to the prosecutor's argument, the court told the jury to apply the court's instructions. RP 138. The jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions. State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d 236, 247, 27 P.3d

184 (2001). In the present case the court's instructions eliminated any possible confusion and cured any potential prejudice stemming from the prosecutor's remarks. Defendant has failed to show how any potential prejudice from the prosecutor's argument was not obviated by the court's instructions to the jury.

B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT PUT ITS STAMP OF APPROVAL ON THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENT NOR WAS DEFENDANT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL.

Defendant argues that by overruling his objection the trial court multiplied the likelihood that the verdict was affected by the prosecutor's rebuttal argument. Appellant's Brief 22-23.

Defendant's reliance on State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984) and State v. Perez-Mejia, 134 Wn. App. 907, 143 P.3d 838 (2006) is misplaced. In Davenport the prosecutor's rebuttal argument introduced the extraneous matter of accomplice liability, which was not before the jury. The comment was an incorrect statement of the law of the case and not in harmony with submitted instructions. Accordingly, the Court held the prosecutor's argument was not invited and exceeded proper rebuttal. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d at 761. Here, the prosecutor's rebuttal argument was a pertinent response to defense counsel's statements and argued the law contained in the jury instructions.

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